Waste and Contaminated Land (Amendment) Bill

[AS AMENDED AT CONSIDERATION STAGE]

CONTENTS

Waste

- 1. Fixed penalty notices for offences under Article 4
- 2. Detention of seized property
- 3. Offence of failing to pay charge for subsistence of licence
- 4. Powers to require removal of waste unlawfully deposited
- 5. Councils to enforce Articles 4 and 5 of 1997 Order
- 6. Right of entry with heavy equipment or to domestic premises

Contaminated land

- 7. Contaminated land: pollution of waterways and underground strata
- 8. Appeals against remediation notices
- 9. Interaction with other provisions

Producer responsibility obligations

10. Producer responsibility obligation regulations

Supplementary

- 11. Minor and consequential amendments and repeals
- 12. Commencement
- 13. Interpretation
- 14. Short title

SCHEDULES:

Schedule 1 Amendments Schedule 2 Repeals

Α

BILL

TO

Amend the Waste and Contaminated Land (Northern Ireland) Order 1997 and the Producer Responsibility Obligations (Northern Ireland) Order 1998.

BE IT ENACTED by being passed by the Northern Ireland Assembly and assented to by Her Majesty as follows:

Waste

Fixed penalty notices for offences under Article 4

1. After Article 4 of the 1997 Order insert—

5

10

15

20

"Fixed penalty notices for offences under Article 4

4A.—(1) This Article applies where on any occasion an authorised officer has reason to believe that a person has committed an offence under Article 4.

- (2) The authorised officer may give to that person a notice offering him the opportunity of discharging any liability to conviction for the offence by payment of a fixed penalty to the enforcing authority.
- (3) Where a person is given a notice under this Article in respect of an offence—
 - (a) no proceedings may be instituted for that offence before the expiration of the period of 14 days following the date of the notice; and
 - (b) he may not be convicted of that offence if he pays the fixed penalty before the expiration of the period.
- (4) A notice under this Article must give such particulars of the circumstances alleged to constitute the offence as are necessary for giving reasonable information of the offence.
 - (5) A notice under this Article must also state—

- (a) the period during which, by virtue of paragraph (3), proceedings will not be taken for the offence;
- (b) the amount of the fixed penalty; and
- (c) the person to whom and the address at which the fixed penalty may be paid.

5

15

25

35

40

- (6) Without prejudice to payment by any other method, payment of the fixed penalty may be made by pre-paying and posting a letter containing the amount of the penalty to the person mentioned in paragraph (5)(c) at the address so mentioned.
- (7) Where a letter is sent in accordance with paragraph (6) payment is to be regarded as having been made at the time at which that letter would be delivered in the ordinary course of post.
- (8) The form of a notice under this Article is to be such as the Department may by order prescribe.
- (9) Subject to paragraph (10), the fixed penalty payable to an enforcing authority under this Article is an amount fixed by the enforcing authority being—
 - (a) not less than £100; and
 - (b) not more than £400.
- (10) The Department may by order substitute a different amount for any amount for the time being specified in paragraph (9).
- (11) An enforcing authority may make provision for treating a fixed penalty as having been paid if a lesser amount is paid before the end of a period specified by the enforcing authority.
 - (12) In any proceedings a certificate which—
 - (a) purports to be signed by an authorised officer, and
 - (b) states that payment of a fixed penalty was or was not received by a date specified in the certificate,

is evidence of the facts stated.

- (13) Article 22C (use of fixed penalty receipts by a district council) 30 applies in relation to amounts received by a council under this Article as it applies in relation to amounts received under Article 22A.
 - (14) In this Article—
 - "authorised officer" means an officer of the enforcing authority who is authorised in writing by the enforcing authority for the purposes of this Article;

"enforcing authority" means—

- (a) the Department; and
- (b) in relation to an offence committed within its district, a district council.".

Detention of seized property

5

10

15

20

25

35

40

- **2.**—(1) In Article 5F of the 1997 Order (seizure of vehicles) after paragraph (3) insert—
 - "(3A) Regulations making provision under paragraph (3)(b)—
 - (a) must (subject to sub-paragraph (b)) provide for seized property to be returned as mentioned in paragraph (3)(b) before the expiry of a period specified in the regulations;
 - (b) may provide for a magistrates' court, on an application by the Department, to authorise the Department to retain the seized property until such date or the happening of such event as the court may specify;
 - (c) must, if they contain provision under sub-paragraph (b), provide for any person claiming to be entitled to the property to be afforded an opportunity to be heard by the court before it determines the application.".
- (2) In Article 42A of the 1997 Order (seizure of vehicles) after paragraph (3) insert—
 - "(3A) Regulations making provision under paragraph (3)(b)—
 - (a) must (subject to sub-paragraph (b)) provide for seized property to be returned as mentioned in paragraph (3)(b) before the expiry of a period specified in the regulations;
 - (b) may provide for a magistrates' court, on an application by the Department, to authorise the Department to retain the seized property until such date or the happening of such event as the court may specify;
 - (c) must, if they contain provision under sub-paragraph (b), provide for any person claiming to be entitled to the property to be afforded an opportunity to be heard by the court before it determines the application.".

30 Offence of failing to pay charge for subsistence of licence

- **3.** In Article 15 of the 1997 Order (fees and charges for licences) after paragraph (5) insert—
 - "(5A) If the holder of a licence fails to pay a charge due in consideration of the subsistence of the licence, the holder of the licence shall be guilty of an offence and shall be liable on summary conviction to a fine not exceeding level 5 on the standard scale.
 - (5B) If the failure to pay continues after conviction of an offence under paragraph (5A), the offender shall be guilty of a further offence and shall be liable on summary conviction to an additional fine not exceeding one-tenth of level 5 on the standard scale for each day on which the offence is continued.
 - (5C) The court by which the holder of a licence is convicted of an offence under paragraph (5A) or (5B) may order the holder of the licence

to pay to the Department any amount outstanding as at the date of conviction in respect of—

- (a) any charge due in consideration of the subsistence of the licence; and
- (b) any expenditure incurred by the Department under Article 16(2) in relation to—

10

15

20

30

35

- (i) the land or mobile plant to which the licence relates; or
- (ii) any equipment on the land to which the licence relates;

and any amount so ordered to be paid to the Department is enforceable in the same manner as any other sum adjudged to be paid by a conviction of that court.".

Powers to require removal of waste unlawfully deposited

4. For Articles 28 and 28A of the 1997 Order substitute—

"Power to require removal of waste unlawfully deposited

- 28.—(1) If any controlled waste is deposited in or on any land in contravention of Article 4(1), an enforcing authority may, by notice served on him, require the appropriate person to do either or both of the following, that is—
 - (a) to remove the waste from the land within a specified period not less than a period of 21 days from the service of the notice;
 - (b) to take within such a period specified steps with a view to eliminating or reducing the consequences of the deposit of the waste.
- (2) A person on whom any requirements are imposed under paragraph (1) may, within the period of 21 days mentioned in that paragraph, appeal against the requirement to a court of summary jurisdiction.
- (3) On any appeal under paragraph (2) the court shall quash the requirement if it is satisfied that—
 - (a) the appellant neither deposited nor knowingly caused nor knowingly permitted the deposit of the waste;
 - (b) there is a material defect in the notice; or
 - (c) in order to comply with the requirement the appellant would be required to enter the land unlawfully;

and in any other case shall either modify the requirement or dismiss the appeal.

- (4) Where a person appeals against any requirement imposed under paragraph (1), the requirement shall be of no effect pending the determination of the appeal; and where the court modifies the requirement or dismisses the appeal it may extend the period specified in the notice.
- (5) If a person on whom a requirement has been imposed under paragraph (1) fails, without reasonable excuse, to comply with the requirement he shall be guilty of an offence and shall be liable on summary conviction to a fine not exceeding level 5 on the standard scale.

- (6) If in the case of a continuing offence under paragraph (5), the offender continues to fail to comply with the requirement he shall be guilty of a further offence and shall be liable on summary conviction to an additional fine not exceeding one-tenth of level 5 on the standard scale for each day on which the offence is continued and before the enforcing authority has begun to exercise its powers under paragraph (7).
- (7) Where a person on whom a requirement has been imposed under paragraph (1) by an enforcing authority fails to comply with the requirement, the enforcing authority may do what that person was required to do and may recover from him any expenses reasonably incurred by the enforcing authority in doing it.
- (8) In this Article and Articles 28A and 28B "enforcing authority" means—
 - (a) the Department; and
 - (b) in relation to land in its district, a district council.

The "appropriate person"

- 28A.—(1) Subject to the following provisions of this Article, the appropriate person in relation to any deposit of waste in or on any land is the person ("D") who deposited the waste.
- (2) Unless paragraph (3) applies, the appropriate person is the occupier of the land if—
 - (a) D cannot be identified or cannot be found without the enforcing authority incurring unreasonable expense; or
 - (b) the enforcing authority has served a notice under Article 28(1) imposing a requirement on D and—
 - (i) D has failed to comply with that requirement within the period specified in the notice; or
 - (ii) that requirement has been quashed on the ground specified in Article 28(3)(a).
 - (3) The appropriate person is the owner of the land if—
 - (a) there is no occupier of the land or the occupier cannot be found without the enforcing authority incurring unreasonable expense; or
 - (b) the enforcing authority has served a notice under Article 28(1) imposing a requirement on the occupier of the land and—
 - (i) the occupier has failed to comply with that requirement within the period specified in the notice; or
 - (ii) that requirement has been quashed on the ground specified in Article 28(3)(a).
 - (4) This Article applies for the purposes of Article 28.
 - (5) A notice under Article 28(1) which may be served—
 - (a) by virtue of paragraph (1) may not be served by virtue of paragraph (2) or (3);

5

10

15

25

30

35

40

(b) by virtue of paragraph (2) may not be served by virtue of paragraph (3).

Reserve powers of enforcing authority

- 28B.—(1) If it appears to an enforcing authority that waste has been deposited in or on any land in contravention of Article 4(1) and that—
 - (a) in order to remove or prevent pollution of land, water or air or harm to human health it is necessary that the waste be forthwith removed or other steps taken to eliminate or reduce the consequences of the deposit or both, or

5

10

15

20

25

35

- (b) there is no occupier of the land, or
- (c) the occupier neither made nor knowingly permitted the deposit of the waste,

the enforcing authority may remove the waste from the land or take other steps to eliminate or reduce the consequences of the deposit or, as the case may require, to remove the waste and take those steps.

- (2) Where an enforcing authority exercises any of the powers conferred on it by paragraph (1) it may recover any costs necessarily incurred by it in removing the waste or taking the steps or both and in disposing of the waste—
 - (a) from the person who deposited the waste; or
 - (b) if that person cannot be identified or cannot be found without the enforcing authority incurring unreasonable expense—
 - (i) in a case falling within paragraph (1)(a), from the occupier of the land.
 - (ii) in a case falling within paragraph (1)(b) or (c), from the owner of the land,

unless (in either case) he proves that he neither made nor knowingly caused nor knowingly permitted the deposit of the waste.

(3) Any waste removed by an enforcing authority under paragraph (1) shall belong to the enforcing authority and may be dealt with accordingly.".

Councils to enforce Articles 4 and 5 of 1997 Order

- **5.**—(1) In Article 72 of the 1997 Order (powers of enforcing authority), in paragraph (12)—
 - (a) in the definition of "enforcing authority" after paragraph (a) insert—
 "(aa) a district council in relation to Articles 4 and 5;";
 - (b) in the definition of "pollution control statutory provisions" in paragraph (b) after sub-paragraph (i) insert—
 - "(ia) Articles 4 and 5;".
- (2) In Article 5A of the 1997 Order (fixed penalty notices for certain offences under Article 5(8))—

- (a) in paragraph (1) for "the Department" (where it first occurs) substitute "an authorised officer of an enforcing authority" and for "to the Department" substitute "to the enforcing authority";
- (b) in paragraph (2) for "Department" substitute "authorised officer" and at the end add "to the enforcing authority";
- (c) in paragraph (9) for "the Department" substitute "an enforcing authority";
- (d) in paragraph (11) for "The Department may" substitute "An enforcing authority may" and for "by the Department" substitute "by the enforcing authority";
- (e) for paragraph (13) substitute—

5

10

15

20

25

30

35

40

- "(12A) Article 22C (use of fixed penalty receipts by a district council) applies in relation to amounts received by a council under this Article as it applies in relation to amounts received under Article 22A.
 - (13) In this Article—
 - "authorised officer" means an officer of the enforcing authority who is authorised in writing by the enforcing authority for the purposes of this Article;

"enforcing authority" means—

- (a) the Department; and
- (b) in relation to an offence committed within its district, a district council.".
- (3) In Article 5B of the 1997 Order (investigation and enforcement costs) for paragraph (2) substitute—
 - "(2) The court by or before which the offender is convicted may make an order requiring him to pay—
 - (a) to the Department or a district council a sum which appears to the court not to exceed the costs arising from investigations of the Department or the district council which resulted in the conviction; and
 - (b) to the Department a sum which appears to the court not to exceed the costs arising from the seizure by the Department under Article 5E of a vehicle involved in the offence.".
 - (4) In Article 5C of the 1997 Order (clean up costs) after paragraph (2) insert—
 - "(2A) The reference to costs in paragraph (2) does not include any costs which the Department or the council has already recovered under Article 28B(2).".

Right of entry with heavy equipment or to domestic premises

6. In Article 72(4) of the 1997 Order omit sub-paragraph (a) (right of entry with heavy equipment or to residential premises to require 24 hours' notice to occupier).

Contaminated land

Contaminated land: pollution of waterways and underground strata

- 7.—(1) Part 3 of the 1997 Order is amended as follows.
- (2) In Article 49 (interpretation of Part 3)—
 - (a) in paragraph (1), in the definition of "contaminated land", for paragraph 5 (b) substitute—
 - "(b) significant pollution of waterways or underground strata is being caused or there is a significant possibility of such pollution being caused:":
 - (b) in paragraph (1), in the definition of "remediation", in paragraph (b)(i) 10 before "pollution" insert "significant";
 - (c) in paragraph (1), in the definition of "underground strata", at the end add ", except that it does not include strata which are above the saturation zone":
 - (d) in paragraph (2)—
 - (i) in sub-paragraph (a) after "harm" insert "or pollution of waterways or underground strata";

15

20

25

30

40

- (ii) in sub-paragraph (b) after "harm" insert "or of significant pollution of waterways or underground strata";
- (iii) omit sub-paragraph (c);
- (e) in paragraph (3)—
 - (i) in sub-paragraph (a) after "systems" insert ", or of poisonous, noxious or polluting matter or solid waste matter";
 - (ii) in sub-paragraph (b) after "places" insert "or waterways or underground strata, or different degrees of pollution";
 - (iii) after "significant harm" insert "or of significant pollution";
- (f) in paragraph (4) for the words from "pollution" to the end substitute "significant pollution of, those waterways or those underground strata is being caused or there is a significant possibility of such pollution being caused.".
- (3) In Article 51 (identification and designation of special sites), in paragraph (9)—
 - (a) in sub-paragraph (a)(ii) for "be, or would be likely to be, caused" substitute "or might be caused";
 - (b) in sub-paragraph (b), before "pollution" insert "significant".
- (4) In Article 53 (duty of enforcing authority to require remediation of contaminated land) in paragraph (4)(b) before "pollution" insert "of the".
- (5) In Article 57 (liability in respect of contaminating substances which escape to other land) in each of paragraphs (3) and (4) for the words from "is being caused" to "likely to be caused" substitute ", or significant pollution of waterways or underground strata, is being caused, or there is a significant possibility of such harm or pollution being caused.".
 - (6) In Article 68 (supplementary provisions relating to contaminated land)—

(a) in paragraph (1)—

5

10

15

25

35

40

- (i) for sub-paragraph (b) substitute—
 - "(b) significant pollution of waterways or underground strata is being caused or there is a significant possibility of such pollution being caused,";
- (ii) for the words from "is being caused, or" to the end substitute ", or significant pollution of waterways or underground strata, is being caused, or there is a significant possibility of such harm or pollution being caused.";
- (b) in paragraph (2) for the words from "is being caused" to "likely to be, caused" substitute ", or significant pollution of waterways or underground strata, is being caused, or there is a significant possibility of such harm or pollution being caused".
- (7) In Article 70 (interaction of Part 3 with other statutory provisions), in each of paragraphs (1)(b) and (2), before "pollution" insert "significant".

Appeals against remediation notices

- **8.**—(1) Article 58 of the 1997 Order (appeals against remediation notices) is amended as follows.
- (2) In paragraph (1) for the words from "appeal against the notice" to the end substitute "appeal against the notice to the Planning Appeals Commission.".
 - (3) After paragraph (1) insert—
 - "(1A) Article 127(2)(b) of the Planning (Northern Ireland) Order 1991 (power to prescribe fees for appeals to the Planning Appeals Commission under that Order) shall apply to appeals under this Article as it applies to appeals under that Order; and a notice of appeal to the Planning Appeals Commission under this Article shall be accompanied by such fee (if any) as may be prescribed under Article 127(2)(b) of that Order.".
 - (4) In paragraph (3) for "Department" substitute "enforcing authority".
- (5) In paragraph (4) for "appellate authority" substitute "Planning Appeals Commission".
 - (6) In paragraph (5) for "an appellate authority" substitute "the Planning Appeals Commission".

Interaction with other provisions

- **9.** In Article 70 of the 1997 Order (interaction of Part 3 with other statutory provisions) after paragraph (2) insert—
 - "(2A) This Part shall not apply if and to the extent that—
 - (a) any significant harm, or significant pollution of waterways or underground strata, by reason of which the land would otherwise fall to be regarded as contaminated, is attributable to the final disposal by deposit in or on land of controlled waste, and
 - (b) enforcement action may be taken in relation to that disposal.

- (2B) A remediation notice shall not be served in respect of contaminated land if and to the extent that—
 - (a) the significant harm, or significant pollution of waterways or underground strata, by reason of which the contaminated land is such land is attributable to an activity other than the final disposal by deposit in or on land of controlled waste, and

5

10

15

20

- (b) enforcement action may be taken in relation to that activity.
- (2C) In paragraphs (2A) and (2B) "enforcement action" means action under regulation 24 (enforcement notices) or regulation 26(2) (power to remedy pollution) of the Pollution Prevention and Control Regulations (Northern Ireland) 2003.".

Producer responsibility obligations

Producer responsibility obligation regulations

- **10.**—(1) The Producer Responsibility Obligations (Northern Ireland) Order 1998 (NI 16) is amended as follows.
 - (2) In Article 4 after paragraph (1) insert—
 - "(1A) The provision which may be made by virtue of paragraph (1)(v) includes provision corresponding (with appropriate modifications) to that made by Article 72 of, and Schedule 4 to, the Waste and Contaminated Land (Northern Ireland) Order 1997.".

Supplementary

Minor and consequential amendments and repeals

- 11.—(1) The statutory provisions set out in Schedule 1 have effect subject to the minor and consequential amendments specified in that Schedule.
- (2) The statutory provisions set out in Schedule 2 are repealed to the extent 25 specified in the second column of that Schedule.

Commencement

- **12.**—(1) The preceding sections of this Act (and the Schedules) come into operation on such day or days as the Department may by order appoint.
- (2) An order under subsection (1) may contain such transitional or saving provisions as the Department thinks appropriate.

Interpretation

- 13. In this Act—
 - "the Department" means the Department of the Environment;
 - "the 1997 Order" means the Waste and Contaminated Land (Northern 35 Ireland) Order 1997 (NI 19);
 - "statutory provision" has the meaning given by section 1(f) of the Interpretation Act (Northern Ireland) 1954 (c. 33).

Short title

14. This Act may be cited as the Waste and Contaminated Land (Amendment) Act (Northern Ireland) 2011.

SCHEDULES

Section 11. SCHEDULE 1

AMENDMENTS

The Waste and Contaminated Land (Northern Ireland) Order 1997 (NI 19)

1. In Article 27(2) after "controlled waste" insert "in or".

5

- 2. In Article 72(13) after "Article 28" insert "or 28A".
- 3. In Article 76(1) for "Part III" substitute "this Order".
- 4. In Article 82—
 - (a) in paragraph (1) at the beginning insert "Except as provided by paragraph (1A),"; and

10

- (b) after paragraph (1) insert—
 - "(1A) No order shall be made under Article 4A(10), 5A(10), 22B(5) or 42B(10) unless a draft of the order has been laid before, and approved by a resolution of, the Assembly.".

SCHEDULE 2

15

REPEALS

Short Title	Extent of repeal	
The Waste and Contaminated Land (Northern Ireland) Order 1997 (NI 19)	Article 49(2)(c). Article 72(4)(a). In Schedule 4, paragraph 2(3).	20
The Waste (Amendment) (Northern Ireland) Order 2007 (NI 3)	Article 12. Article 18(1)(c).	
		25

25